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Throughout History
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Introduction

‘Who would not be astounded to look upon these walls around Nicaea,
which draw so much confidence from their construction that the effort of
every kind of engine against them is of no use but a wholly vain spending
of time on the impossible?’ With these words Theodore Metochites praised
the fortifications of Nicaea in his oration of 1290 just before he became one
of the leading statesmen of the Byzantine Empire (Foss 1996, 175). As he
describes, the city walls impressively dominate the cityscape of Nicaea
even today. The fortification is the most significant historical monument of
the city, mainly because it has been preserved to a great extent. The walls
are about 5 km long and they almost completely enclose an area of 145 ha.
Built in the 3rd century CE, the fortification has undergone many alterations
throughout the rich history of Nicaea until the present day.

The monument was an object of interest for travellers and researchers
from the 16th century onwards. The first sketches of the city plan and gates
are found in the publications of Richard Pococke (1773), Leon de Laborde
(1838), and Charles Texier (1839) from the 18th and 19th centuries.
However, the only substantial systematic documentation is the monograph
of Walter Karnapp and Maria Alfons Schneider published in 1938.



Thereafter, Clive Foss deals with the city walls of Nicaea in a chapter of his
book The Byzantine Fortifications in 1986.

The current research on the monument is part of my dissertation project
at the Faculty of Architecture of the Technical University Berlin.! In my
thesis, the construction itself is considered as the main source for various
questions regarding areas such as the construction process or the different
functions of the building. In this paper I concentrate on the defensive
features of the fortification. The paper presents the preliminary results of
my research concerning the alterations of different parts of the fortification
system within the various building phases. In particular, it will address
whether we should understand the repeated modifications of towers and
curtains as an attempt to improve constantly the defensive capacity of the
wall, or whether the modifications also fulfil other requirements, such as
symbolic manifestations, from time to time. With regard to these questions,
I will consider the characteristics of each building phase in detail and
compare them to assess the transformation of the walls’ defensive features.

Nicaea, which is now called Iznik, is located in the modern province of
Bursa, Turkey, about 200 km south of Istanbul. It is situated on flat terrain
surrounded by mountains on the east coast of Lake Iznik. Nicaea was
founded towards the end of the 4th century BCE, and later belonged to the
Roman province of Pontus Bithynia (Sahin 1987, 1-2). Nicaea suffered
from Gothic attacks in the 3rd century CE (Zosimos 1, 35, 2). In Late
Antiquity, the city was an important centre due to its geographical position
in the hinterland of Constantinople at the junction of several important
routes. Therefore, the first ecumenical council was held in Nicaea in 325
CE (Sahin 1987, 23). The city was also a significant military base during
the Arab invasions of Asia Minor in the 7th century, when it became the
administrative centre of the Opsikion theme (Foss 1996, 23—-24). In 727 the
Arabs besieged the city, but failed to capture it (Ostrogorsky 1965, 120).
Soon after, in 787 the last council gathered in Nicaea (Foss 1996, 19-21). In
1081 the Seljuks conquered the city and Nicaea became the centre of the
Turkish state for a short period. After the First Crusade the Byzantines
gained back the city, and in 1204, when Constantinople was captured by the
Fourth Crusade, the Byzantine capital was transferred to Nicaea. After the



Byzantine recapture of Constantinople in 1261, Nicaea lost its status as the
capital of the Empire. When the Ottomans conquered the city in 1331, it
received its present name Iznik. Thereafter the city went through a phase of
decline and lost its importance in relation to the new capitals, Bursa, and
eventually Constantinople (Foss 1996, 75-87).

Brief Description of the Walls

The fortification system consists of two circuits, an inner wall (Wall A), and
an outer circuit (Wall B). It has four main gates, which define the two
central axes of the city (Plate 16.1). Two of these gates, Istanbul Gate in the
north and Lefke Gate in the east, incorporate monumental arches from the
1st century CE in their core. The southern or Yenisehir Gate is only
partially preserved, while the western Lake Gate is completely destroyed.
The plan of the circuit is an irregular polygon and covers what was most
probably the settlement area at the time. It runs in straight lines from the
south-east to the north. In the south-west and north-east it has an indented
trace. Here, apparently, some existing buildings were taken into
consideration when the course of the wall was defined.

Wall A had at least 116 towers, 113 of which are preserved to differing
degrees. Ninety-two towers of wall B survived, some in quite a poor state of
preservation. The sophisticated planning of the fortification system with its
solid structure, dimensions and the many projecting towers makes the
monument unique in Asia Minor for the period of its construction (Crow
2001, 90-91).

In the following I would like to discuss each construction phase,
considering specific aspects, such as layout and dimensions, permeability,
defensive and aesthetic values, to assess whether there is an overall
development pattern. It is quite difficult to distinguish the different phases
of the construction and date the alterations definitively. Some of the phases
are documented with inscriptions; where this is not the case, a relative
chronology has been established on the basis of construction details and
masonry types. Since the documentation effort and fieldwork still
continues, the building phases, which I present, are a preliminary
suggestion based on the present state of my research.
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Two identical inscriptions document that the walls were dedicated to
Emperor Claudius Gothicus who ruled between October 268 and 270
(Sahin 1979, 7b—9b). The construction must have been nearly completed by
this date as the beginning of the construction seems to correlate with the
end of the Gothic attacks on Nicaea in 259 (Zosimos 1, 35, 2). Coins of
Emperor Gallienus and usurpers Macrianus and Quietus from around 260
have depictions of the walls of Nicaea, which is generally taken as evidence
of the start of the construction (Weiser 1983, 87).

The fortification was initially designed as a single circuit and consisted
only of ‘Wall A’ (Plate 16.1). The course of the wall, many preserved
curtains (at least in their core) and half of the towers belong to this period
(Dalyanci-Berns 2017, 417-426). The wall is built very solidly in mortared
rubble with a facing on both sides (Fig. 16.1a-b). The curtains are 3.7 m
thick and 9 m high in the first phase of construction. They have a facing of
rubble stones, which are placed with their flat sides exposed. Courses of
four brick rows run through the whole width of the curtains at regular
intervals. The wall-walk could be reached through stairs built against the
curtains on the city side and its dimensions were suitable for mounting and
operating catapults of bigger sizes (Marsden 1969, 122). The curtains have
no other defensive zone apart from the wall-walk since they have no
openings on the ground level.

The wall had a minimum of 71 towers in this phase, which were
positioned regularly with a distance of 45 to 55 m between them. Only
along the lakeside in the west do the intervals measure up to 70 m.
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Fig. 16.1: a) Interior view of the wall sections from the 3rd century; b) Exterior view of the wall
sections from the 3rd century.

All the towers of this period are U-shaped and bonded to the curtains
(Fig. 16.1b and Plate 16.2a). They protrude 9 m from the curtains with an
average width of 9 m. Unlike the curtains they have a facing of brick, which
was laid very precisely.



Almost all of the towers have a postern at ground level. The posterns
consisted of a narrow vaulted passage making a right-angled turn inside the
tower. Their clever design prevented the openings from being visible from
the landside. Being so, they served as sally ports during a siege. Cuttings
for the bolting mechanisms can still be seen on the door lintels and the
embrasures (Plate 16.3). This would suggest that the sally ports could be
closed temporarily by some kind of a barrier during an attack, to fulfil their
military function.

Some of the towers have rectangular vaulted chambers without openings.
As these chambers had no obvious defensive function, they must have been
used as storage rooms. It seems that the builders did not take full advantage
of having semi-circular towers, which enable shooting with a wide field of
fire (Marsden 1969, 143). The defensive zones of the towers were limited to
the sally ports and the upper platforms, some of which still have
crenellations.

The four main gates on Wall A also originate from the first building
phase. In this period, as well as these main gates that connected the city and
its rural environment, there were also five secondary gates and numerous
posterns, which allowed traffic to cross the wall. In periods of war, these
openings had differing purposes. The specific military function of sally
ports was counterbalanced by its vulnerability to attacks. In periods of
peace, however, their permeability facilitated daily life. The inhabitants of
Nicaea could avoid a detour via the main gates and simply take a shortcut
through a postern or a secondary gate on their way to extramural sites, such
as their fields.

As mentioned above, two freestanding monumental arches were
integrated into the wall and henceforth served as the gates in the east and
north (Fig. 16.2). The arches have three openings, one main passage 4.3 m
wide and 5.15 m high with two side passages only 90 cm wide and 2 m
high. This re-functioning required some alterations. In order to ensure
security, the arches were provided with flanking towers on both sides. A
portcullis was installed in each of the main passages. The upper parts of the
arches were raised by brick structures, which also served as the slot
required for the portcullis. The flanking towers have high rectangular



chambers, which were covered by vaults. Like the regular towers they have
no openings.

The Southern Yenisehir Gate has a different layout with its forecourt
projecting to the city side. This gate was built entirely using re-used blocks.
One of the flanking towers is destroyed without a trace. The second one,
AT1 with its almost circular plan, is one of the largest towers in the whole
fortification. It has a round chamber with four openings. Two of them are
narrow loopholes with oblique jambs. That is, they are wider on the inside
than on the outside, a feature which enabled the archer to cover a wider
field of fire by moving from one side to the other (Marsden 1969, 128).
They are situated on the front, directed to the countryside. The other
embrasures are wider openings placed in the west and east sides covering
the field along the curtains and the gate.
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Fig. 16.2: Exterior view of Lefke Gate with the monumental arch of the 1st century (photo: M.
Ozkiling, 2014).

The Walls of Nicaea were originally built in a very sophisticated way.
They were certainly capable of defending the city as well as intimidating
the enemy with their solid structure and many towers. Still, they perform
more than a solely defensive function. The posterns for example enabled
connectivity of the city with its environment at many points, making this
barrier permeable even though they were planned as defensive features. The
combination of materials on the curtains and the skilful execution of the
brick facings are of a high aesthetic quality. It is obvious that they were
applied with the intention of demonstrating power and stability when
representing the city (Crow 2001, 91).
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In the 8th century parts of the walls were rebuilt (Fig. 16.3). An in-situ
inscription allows us to connect these activities with Leo III, who ruled
between 717 and 741 (Korte 1899, 405-409; Sahin 1979, 234a—236b). His
victory against the Arabs and the renewal of the walls were commemorated
in this inscription (Ostrogorsky 1965, 120; Foss 1996, 17-18, 90-91).



Although the alterations were limited to very few sections, the result was
impressive from an aesthetic point of view (Crow 2017, 104). It did not,
however, substantially improve the defensive qualities of the wall.

Three of the semi-circular towers of the first phase were transformed into
rectangular towers by an additional facing (Plate 16.2b). The new facing
consisted entirely of finely cut spoil blocks, which were arranged carefully
in regular courses. It was also applied to the curtains between the modified
towers. The stability of the new masonry is obvious. Even so the effort of
using spoil material in such a precise manner must have been motivated by
other concerns. The transportation of the building materials to the
construction site, the careful sorting of blocks depending on their
dimensions as well as the placing of the heavy material into their new
context were only a few steps of the construction process, which would
have required a considerable amount of qualified manpower and equipment
(Frey 2016, 45).

While the posterns of the original towers were kept in use, the former
chambers were filled up and became unusable. The towers were crowned
with a beautiful cornice, which in this context had purely an aesthetic value
(Crow 2017, 104).

Nevertheless, the defensive quality of the wall was improved through the
renewal of the battlements in this period. Long spoil blocks were laid on the
former wall-walk so that the surface was stabilised. The parapet was raised
and new crenellations made of spoil blocks were situated behind the new
parapet (Fig. 16.4).

In this phase the alterations were restricted to a few sections but the
project involved substantial effort, resulting in a very impressive
appearance. Thanks to the fine layout and materials of high quality these
sections are very distinctive within the whole fortification and therefore
easily associated with the initiator of the project.
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Fig. 16.3: Exterior view of the rebuilt wall sections of the 8th century.
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In a later phase a large-scale reinforcement project was undertaken. The
fortification was modified to a great extent and this resulted in a completely
new appearance. In particular, the wall’s defensive capacity was
considerably increased. Most probably Emperor Michael III initiated this
extensive project in the 9th century (Foss 1996, 91-92). These
modifications were dated to the 4th century by W. Karnapp and A.M.
Schneider (1938, 42). However, considering the construction details, the
alterations can only be after the 8th-century phase. The towers of this phase
lean against the new, raised parapet of the 8th century wall-walk so cannot
have been modified earlier than the 8th century.

The alterations can best be observed at the well-preserved south and
south-east sections of the fortification. Two different approaches to the
reinforcement are recognizable. First, new towers were inserted exactly in
the middle of two existing towers so that the distance between the towers
was reduced to approximately 25 m (Plate 16.2c).

The new towers have exactly the same U-shape and dimensions as the
former towers. They only differ in their additional base of spoil blocks. The
brickwork of the new shell is very similar to the original one to the extent
that they are hardly distinguishable from one another.

Even if their appearance is similar, there is a crucial difference between
both phases in that the later towers have chambers with openings. This
remarkably improved the defensive functions of the circuit, since the
defenders were now able to use their weapons from a new position. The
chambers have three arrow slits with oblique jambs.
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Fig. 16.4: Wall-walk and the new battlements of the 8th century (photo: T. Kiihnel, 2015).

The second approach was transforming the original towers by
reconstructing the superstructure completely. The towers were raised and
new chambers were added (Plate 16.2d). As a result, these towers
comprised of two storeys with the upper chambers having openings. In this
way the towers gained a further defensive zone in addition to the posterns
and platforms.



This building phase was an extensive undertaking and while the additions
improved the defensive power of the circuit tremendously, the appearance
of the wall also played a decisive role. It is obvious that the builders took
the original appearance of the fortifications into account when designing the
new towers, even after some 500 years.
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The 13th century was a period of prosperity for Nicaea, as it became the
new capital of the Empire (Foss 1996, 57—64). In the first decades of the
century it was a centre of political and cultural activity under Theodore
Laskaris and John Vatatzes. The new status of the city also seems to be
reflected by the city walls, which once more underwent thorough changes.
Theodore Laskaris apparently ordered the building of new towers, as two
inscriptions indicate, one of which is still in-situ on the city-face of the
tower AT 105b (Sahin 1979, 245b-247a).

These towers are rectangular and considerably higher than those that had
existed hitherto. They have a high substructure of spoil material, which was
elaborately arranged. The superstructure is composed of brickwork with
decorative elements. The towers have rectangular chambers with wide
openings.

The last essential addition to the fortification system is the outer circuit,
the Wall B constructed under John Vatatzes between 1224-1254, after
which the fortification attained its present appearance (Fig. 16.5) (Karnapp
and Schneider 1938, 16-19; Foss 1986, 83; 1996, 94-96). The addition of
the outer circuit is mentioned repeatedly in orations (Foss 1996).

It is obvious that this circuit was built in a single endeavour because the
masonry is homogeneous and there are no construction details such as joints
that would have suggested various building phases. It runs at a distance of
13 to 16 m parallel to Wall A. The course is, however, interrupted along the
lakeshore. With the addition of the second circuit, the gates became more
complex structures. They were additionally complemented with inner
courtyards. These alterations enabled a threefold barrier at these vulnerable
points of the fortification.



This new circuit is of much smaller dimensions than the inner circuit. Its
curtains are approximately 2 m thick and 5 m high. The facings are of
rubble stones with bricks arranged irregularly. The curtains of Wall B
contained narrow slits with oblique sides and served as a defensive zone in
addition to the curtains of Wall A. Ninety-two towers of this circuit can be
traced. These towers were placed exactly in between two towers of Wall A
(Plate 16.4). They have no posterns or chambers with the exception of the
flanking towers of the gates. Their platforms were at the same level as the
wall-walk, from which the defenders could shoot.

The gates were provided with flanking towers as in the original gates.
These towers’ facings of elaborate brickwork differed from the towers of
Wall B. Evidently the exterior facades of the gates were designed more
aesthetically (Jacobs 2009, 206-207). The brickwork of the towers has
decorative elements and spoil blocks with reliefs were inserted
symmetrically in the masonry on both sides of the openings with the
obvious intent of embellishing the entrance of the city.

One significant impact of this building phase is the reduction of the
connectivity between the city and the extramural areas. The ground level
was raised by natural earth filling over the previous centuries and the
posterns of Wall A were no longer in use. This level difference can still be
observed at a recently excavated section of the wall, which accidentally
exposed the foundations of Wall B. Wall B stands about 120 cm above the
original level.

Wall B had in addition to the main gates only a few posterns as openings.
So the whole fortification became a much more closed structure, creating a
barrier between the city and its environment that provided a defensive
advantage.

Overall, this last extension during the 13th century fundamentally
transformed the fortification into a more complex and strong defensive
structure. At the same time the gates were remarkably decorated with
aesthetic features, especially on their exterior sides (Fig. 16.6).
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Fig. 16.5: Exterior view of the fortification from the south-east.
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Fig. 16.6: Exterior view of Lefke Gate after the 13th century.

Conclusion

As seen in the example of Nicaea, a fortification is a dynamic structure,
which is steadily transformed and adjusted in response to different
requirements. Sometimes historical events gave impulse for the
improvement of the defensive capacity of the fortification. At other times it
served as a medium to demonstrate power and stability as well as being a
status symbol for individual emperors. These motivations are strongly
interconnected and they cannot be interpreted as independent contradicting
factors. Rather, they complement each other, and their manifestations on the
wall had a direct impact on the daily life of the inhabitants of Nicaea, here
most clearly demonstrated by the impact on the connectivity of the city with
its environment.
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